
1

Agenda

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel
Thursday 21 March 2019 at 6.30 pm
Old Library, Oxford Town Hall
From 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019, the Oxfordshire Growth Board meetings are managed 
by South Oxfordshire District Council.
Contact: Kevin Jacob, Growth Board Democratic Services Officer 01235 422191or 
Amit Alva, Growth Board Scrutiny Officer

E-mail: democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
Telephone: 01235 422191 or 01235 422346
Website: www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org 

Voting members 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

Councillor Andrew Gant (Chair)
Councillor John Tanner
Councillor Craig Simmons

Oxford City Council

Councillor Neil Prestidge
Councillor Sean Gaul
Councillor Sean Woodcock

Cherwell District Council 

Councillor Nick Carter
Councillor John Sanders
Councillor Emily Smith

Oxfordshire County Council

Councillor Elaine Hornsby
Councillor David Turner
Councillor Ian White

South Oxfordshire District 
Council

Councillor Debby Hallett
Councillor Ben Mabbett
Councillor Chris Palmer

Vale of White Horse District 
Council

Councillor Derek Cotterill
Councillor David Harvey
Councillor Julian Cooper

West Oxfordshire District 
Council

The quorum is 6 members, one from each council. Substitutes are allowed and should be 
notified to the contact above.

This meeting is open to the press and public.

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the contact officer 
know in advance of this meeting.  

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
http://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/


2

AGENDA

PART ONE – PUBLIC BUSINESS

1 Apologies for absence and substitutes; declarations of interest; 
Chair's announcements  

2 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 6 - 15)

Recommendation: To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 24 January 
2019, (attached).  

3 Public Participation  

The terms of reference of the Panel state:

Members of the public may address meetings of the Scrutiny Panel, where notice is given 
to the secretariat no later than 4.00pm on the last working day before the day of the 
meeting.

The Chair will have discretion to manage the public participation procedure as they see 
appropriate, including rejecting frivolous, defamatory or offensive questions and 
managing the time afforded to public addresses.

Notice of a wish to address the meeting, including the subject of the address or the full 
question to be asked, must be sent to 

democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org

by 4.00pm on Wednesday 20 March 2019.
The Chair’s decision will be final.

4 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 - update on project plan and Green Belt  
(Pages 16 - 19)

Purpose: To consider an update on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) project plan and 
the Green Belt. 

Information: Programme report and Green Belt (attached) 

Recommendation: The Scrutiny Panel note and comment upon the report. 

5 Scrutiny Panel response to Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) 
consultation  (Pages 20 - 48)

Purpose: To consider a response to the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation from the 
Scrutiny Panel.

mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
mailto:democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org


3

Information: Scrutiny Panel individual councillor responses (attached). 

Recommendation: That the Scrutiny Panel discuss and agree a formal response to the 
consultation.   

6 Affordable Housing Sub-Group - update on affordable housing 
performance 2018/2019  (Pages 49 - 50)

Purpose: To consider an update on affordable housing delivery from 2018/2019 to date. 

Information: Report attached. 

Recommendation: To discuss and note the response. 

7 Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations - 
January 2019 meeting  (Pages 51 - 52)

Purpose: To consider the Growth Board’s response to the recommendations to the 
Board from the Scrutiny Panel meeting on 24 January 2019. 

Information:  response attached 

Recommendation: To discuss and note the response.

8 Oxfordshire Growth Board papers 26 March 2019  

Purpose: To consider reports and matters on the agenda for the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board meeting on 26 March 2019.

Information: Agenda and reports published on 18 March Separately from this Agenda 

Recommendations: To make any recommendations or comments to the Growth Board.

9 Work Programme for the Scrutiny Panel - March 2019  (Page 53)

Purpose: To discuss the work programme for the Panel submitted for consideration by 
the Panel’s scrutiny officer. Members of the Panel are encouraged to suggest potential 
scrutiny subjects for future consideration.    

Information: Work programme (attached)

Recommendation: To agree the draft work programme as set out and to note that other 
relevant items may be added to agendas at the request of officers in consultation with the 

Seperately%2520from%2520this%2520Agenda


4

Chair.

10 Dates of meetings  

Purpose: To note the dates for meetings of this Panel:

Scrutiny Panel Growth Board
Thurs 30 May 6.30pm 4 June 2pm
Thurs 25 July 6.30pm 30 July 2pm

Meetings of the scrutiny panel to be held in Oxford Town Hall. 

*if no rooms available in Town Hall venue will change



5

Councillors’ duties on declaring interests

General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the council’s area; licences for land in the council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s register of interests which is publicly available on the council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 
Where any matter disclosed in your register of interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest.  If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Councillors’ Code 
of Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if 
they were civil partners.  



Minutes of a meeting of the 
OXFORDSHIRE GROWTH BOARD SCRUTINY PANEL
on Thursday 24 January 2019 

Voting members of the Committee present:
Councillor Neil Prestidge
Councillor Sean Woodcock (Vice-Chairman)

Cherwell District Council 

Councillor Andrew Gant (Chair)
Councillor Craig Simmons
Councillor John Tanner

Oxford City Council

Councillor Nick Carter
Councillor John Sanders
Councillor Emily Smith

Oxfordshire County Council

Councillor David Turner
Councillor Ian White

South Oxfordshire District Council

Councillor Debby Hallett
Councillor Chris Palmer

Vale of White Horse District Council

Councillor Julian Cooper
Councillor Derek Cotterill

West Oxfordshire District Council

Officers contributing to and supporting the Panel: 
Caroline Green Interim Deal Director
Paul Staines Growth Board Service Delivery Manager
Susan Harbour Strategic Partnership Manager (South Oxfordshire and 

Vale of White Horse District Councils)
Andrew Down Head of Partnership & Insight (South Oxfordshire and 

Vale of White Horse District  Councils)
Giles Hughes West Oxfordshire District Council, Head of Planning 

and Strategic Housing  
Rachel Williams Lead Officer Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) 
Anita Bradley Monitoring Officer, Oxford City Council
Amit Alva Oxfordshire Growth Board - Project & Scrutiny Officer
Kevin Jacobs Clerk for the Panel

Also attending: 
Councillor Susan Brown Leader Oxford City Council & Affordable Housing Sub 

Group

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTES; 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST; CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS, 
INTRODUCTION OF NEW STAFF TO THE SCRUTINY PANEL 

Apologies were received from:

Councillor Elaine Hornsby South Oxfordshire District Council
Councillor Ben Mabbett Vale of White Horse District Council  

There were no declarations of interest. 

The Chair informed the Panel that that due to a prior engagement he had to leave the 
meeting by 7.30 pm and the Panel agreed to vary the order of the Agenda in order to 
consider Item 7 on the Growth Board’s response to the Panel’s recommendations from 
the previous meeting after Item 3 minutes of the previous meeting. 

The Panel welcomed Amit Alva, Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Officer and Kevin 
Jacob, Oxfordshire Growth Board – Democratic Services Officer to their first Panel 
meeting.

2. ELECTION OF VICE- CHAIR TO JUNE 2019 
Following the decision of Councillor Henwood to step down from the Panel it was 
proposed by Councillor Gant and seconded by Councillor Smith, that Councillor 
Woodcock be elected as Vice-Chair of the Panel.  

There being no other nominations it was put to a vote and resolved that 
Councillor Woodcock be elected as Vice-Chair of the Panel until the end of the 
Growth Board’s 2018/2019 year. 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record subject to the addition of Councillor Ian White of South Oxfordshire District 
Council to the list of apologies.

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
The Panel took this item after the item on the Growth Board’s response to the Panel’s 
recommendations from the previous meeting. 

The Panel heard one question and one address from members of the public.  

Sue Heywood, representing Need Not Greed Oxfordshire, asked the following question:

‘The speed and timescales being imposed on the Oxfordshire 2050 plan continue to be 
a concern.  There is a lot of very good talk about engagement and consultation, 
including in the draft Reg 18 consultation document, but it is not clear that this can be 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



delivered in practice.  In addition, there is much on what it is hoped growth will deliver, 
and how it should be delivered in order to not cause harm,  but there is no evidence in 
the report being presented next week to the Growth Board as to when any there will be 
a real debate on what scale of growth might be needed to deliver the aspirations and 
objectives for the stakeholders in the county and it is hard to see how the Local 
Development Scheme as it is being proposed can deliver this.   Need not Greed 
Oxfordshire therefore asks:
 

a. Given that the final copy of the Statement of Community Involvement was 
produced just one working day after the consultation ended, what opportunity 
was there for the JSSP sub-group or others to consider a report on the 
responses received and what transparency was offered to the public on the 
changes made/not made?

b. What assurances are there that the responses to the Reg 18 consultation on 
aspirations and objectives will be meaningfully considered and incorporated, in a 
transparent way, into the additional proposed Reg 18 consultation in the 
summer?

c. Why do none of the documents for consultation to date seek any opinion on the 
overall scale of growth and why it is needed?  Will this take place and, if so, 
where and when? What transparency will there be on whose evidence, or what 
influence, will take priority in decisions that define the scale of growth and 
housing target numbers for the county? Only this morning, an additional piece of 
information came to my attention that could be relevant to these points. There is 
a suggestion that the additional Reg 18 Issues consultation that is now planned 
for the summer will include an invitation for views on housing numbers as well as 
on broad locations for any growth. Further, it appears there may be some topic 
papers planned on a number of key areas, including housing numbers, that will 
set out how evidence will be collected.  These could be a welcome development, 
assuming there is opportunity for input and feedback on both, including by 
Scrutiny and we would be grateful for any confirmation about these that Scrutiny 
can provide.

d. In conclusion, will Scrutiny please call for further urgent action to extend the 
timescales for the project and also for the appropriate assurances and 
transparency, as outlined above?’

At the request of the Vice-Chair, Rachel Williams, Lead Officer for Oxfordshire County 
Council responded to the points raised. In summary:

 The production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 was an ambitious project, but it was 
currently in a good place and discussion was taking place in all the District Council 
areas. In addition, as committed to in the Growth Deal, there would be a full suite of 
approved or submitted Local Plans for Oxfordshire by April 2019

 The proposal for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 was to have a two-part Regulation 18 
consultation. The first commencing on 1st February had been designed to be an 
accessible discussion document concerning issues, the vision, aspiration and 
objectives around the scale of growth. A big launch was planned for this and broad 
public engagement wanted. The second consultation would focus on the broad 
locations for growth and this was scheduled for the summer/autumn of 2019.

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 Although the final copy of the draft Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) had 
been produced in a short period of time after the close of the consultation period, 
Officers had already carefully considered comments as they had been received and 
all the responses had been further considered by the Liaison Group including how 
they could be addressed. 

 The Cabinets/Executives of the various councils would be asked to look at the 
document, the responses received and to make appropriate amendments. 

The Panel commented that, from events various of them had already attended, they 
were concerned about what appeared to be a lack of attendance and engagement 
amongst younger people. Given the importance of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 for their 
futures it was of high priority that they were represented in future launch events.  The 
Panel was informed of the arrangements in place around engagement and Rachel 
Williams underlined the keenness of the Plan team to engage with young people as 
part of the process. 

Dr Peter Collins, Chairman of the Campaign for the Protection of Rural England 
(CPRE) Oxfordshire gave the following address:

‘CPRE would again like to stress the importance it gives to Panel discussions and 
actions, and the need to make sure that, in whatever haste, the Growth Board 
understands the need to spend time on and take seriously all points made by the Panel 
to it.

Councillors will be aware that CPRE is 'The Planning Charity' - unlike all other volunteer 
groups - both nationally and locally, with experience over 90 years in working positively 
alongside Government, Counties and Districts. We were glad that the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board saw our support of the JSSP, subject to proper public engagement, as 
both positive and helpful. We saw the listing of CPRE by name as a Stakeholder in a 
recent draft of the Statement of Community Involvement as an appropriately positive 
step but are now dismayed to be deleted from the list of General Consultees in the 
updated draft, Appendix 1. We understand that legal requirements may need a special 
classification. To remove CPRE by name, as a stakeholder and consultee on all 
matters of planning, would not in our view be in Oxfordshire's interest and be seen 
badly by the public. We hope that the Panel will pursue this matter.

CPRE also urges the Panel to pursue the Growth Board on the need for a clear priority 
to be given for really affordable living accommodation, with suitable density and 
sustainability, over provision for employment on all brownfield land. Clearly, current 
local plans can trump some of this, but it should be written in stone now from when the 
local plans come to an end, and the City and District Councils be asked to agree to 
seek to implement it as far as possible from now on.

I would note that it is well established that there are plenty of houses available for 
purchase, except for those really affordable ones needed for vital local people and key 
workers. That developers be allowed to concrete over the beautiful green fields of 
Oxfordshire with unneeded expensive houses or those called 'affordable' but also too 
expensive for the many at 80% of market value is wholly undesirable. There is no 
evidence that building more and more expensive houses for commuters and those who 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



still find Oxfordshire a desirable place to live will relieve the County's housing problems, 
provide cheaper accommodation and answer real need.

In order that the public, be not confused as to the meaning of words they will find used 
again and again in discussions in planning circles, I suggest that new definitions of 
'affordable' and 'objectively assessed need' be sought. The morally enforced imperative 
needs to be properly understood.

In passing, I would like to join others in asking those who compiled the latest draft of 
the Statement of Community Involvement just what they understand by 'consultation', in 
particular with clause 15 in mind’.
            
In discussion about the issues raised the Panel commented:

1. That it shared the concerns of the CPRE regarding the omission from the list of 
‘General Consultees’ within the updated draft of the Statement of Community 
Involvement whilst noting the advice of Officers that there were statutory, legal 
and practical reasons for this and that input from CPRE remained highly valued.   
The Panel felt that the contribution of CPRE was sufficiently significant as to 
warrant listing as a key consultee or regular stakeholder in some way within the 
Statement of Community Involvement document. It was noted that Officers were 
building a database of consultees.    

2. The Panel noted that definitions of ‘Affordable Housing’ within the plan 
documents had to reflect national technical definitions set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework but shared the concerns raised that this did not 
necessarily reflect a broader consideration of ‘affordable’.  The Panel noted that 
Officers accepted there was a challenge to explain the terms in a meaningful 
way.   

The Panel agreed the following recommendation to the Growth Board: 
That the Growth Board reflect on the categorisation of consultees to create a separate 
list of key consultees in addition to the statutory list of consultees within the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 (JSSP) consultation process. CPRE to be added to this list of key 
consultees.

5. GROWTH DEAL AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME 
Paul Staines, Growth Deal Services Delivery Manager presented a report and 
presentation on the Growth Deal Affordable Housing Workstream which introduced the 
workstream to the Panel and sought to consider how to address some of the key issues 
in building a successful programme. 

Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of Oxford City Council and Chair of the Growth Board 
Housing Advisory Sub-Group attended the meeting for this item and drew the Panel’s 
attention to the Note of the Sub-Group meeting held on 15 January 2019 which had 
been circulated. Councillor Brown, in summary, commented that she found the work of 
the sub-group to be particularly useful and that, although it was still early days in the 
development of the sub-group, all the partners were working well together and sharing 
experiences on affordable housing.  

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Key observations were that all the councils had different policies and priorities for 
affordable housing. In developing the three-year programme learning had, for example 
highlighted the necessity of economies of scale for modular housing if a scheme was to 
become viable to modular build providers.  This issue could potentially be addressed by 
combining schemes. 

In the update, and in their discussion about the issues raised, the Panel commented:

1. The median average earnings per year required to purchase an entry level 
house was 12 times average salary. There was some concern that even though 
affordable housing for rent might be ‘affordable’ within official definitions, at 20% 
below local market rents it was still unaffordable for many people. The Panel 
noted whilst there was flexibility with the definitions of affordable housing 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. (NPPF) to set a 
percentage in excess of this in response to local conditions, it was difficult to 
achieve this in practice because of the grant rates and rent levels set by Homes 
England. Shared Ownership was also felt by various members of the Panel to be 
unaffordable for many people. 

2. Progress to date set out in the report towards the achievement of indicative 
totals for the Affordable Housing Programme, (AHP) on Year 1 as part of the 
Deal Delivery Plan were welcomed as were the ambitious indicative totals for 
future years.  The Panel felt that it would be useful if a project plan could be 
included in future reports including delivery milestones. 

3. Proposed changes by the Government to the borrowing limits set for councils 
with Housing Revenue Account, (HRA) were welcomed. 

4. The conditions of the grant funding provided through the Growth Deal Affordable 
Housing Programme were broadly in line with those offered through the Homes 
England Affordable Housing Programme.

5. The Deal conditions for grant recipients included provision to claw back grant in 
the event of non-delivery. 

6. Provision of affordable homes through the Deal were separate and in addition to 
any secured by local planning authorities via Section 106 contributions.  

7. Delivery of the homes set out in the AHP was an ambitious challenge and it was 
important that the stated targets were delivered. Quality and innovation would 
also be important.    

8. The Panel asked for data on the number of social housing units delivered by the 
districts and affordability target noting that the numbers provided within a council 
area could vary considerable year to year depending on the delivery of a big site 
that might not be repeated in subsequent years.    

9. There was a concern that there was not enough focus on the provision of extra 
care housing within the overall context of affordable social housing. Officers 
responded, highlighting a number of extra care schemes included within the 
programme. 

10.The Panel noted that Growth Deal affordable housing grant could only be 
provided to Registered Social Landlords, (RSLs) including stock retaining local 
authorities.  All RSLs were covered by Right to Buy/Right to Acquire legislation. 

The Panel agreed: 
1) That a further update be presented to the July meeting. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



2) That as part of the update, data on the 1,000 affordable homes per annuum 
delivered by councils in Oxfordshire over the last three years be split by district 
and city council with any necessary context.    

6. COMMUNICATIONS AND ENGAGEMENT WITH THE 
OXFORDSHIRE GROWTH BOARD 

The Panel considered a report which set out the current arrangements for 
communications and engaging with the public and other stakeholders and to provide a 
summary of the work taking place to engage the public in the work of the Growth Deal. 

In discussion about the issues raised the Panel noted that:

1. That it was not yet clear that bi-monthly communications were taking place 
effectively. The Panel had at its previous meeting expressed the opinion that 
each council Leader should be encouraged to put in place a clear a clear 
structure for communications between the Growth Board and each council’s 
members. It was felt that this view should be formalised into a recommendation 
to the Growth Board. 

2. In respect of the Growth Board website it was noted that it was accepted by 
Officers that it remained work in progress, but that time and resource had been 
put in place with significant improvements made. The Panel was encouraged to 
highlight any areas for further improvement.   

The Panel made the following recommendation to the Growth Board:
That the Growth Board ask each Leader to establish a clear structure for 
communications between the Growth Board and each council’s members

7. GROWTH BOARD RESPONSE TO SCRUTINY PANEL 
RECOMMENDATIONS - NOVEMBER 2018 MEETING 

The Panel considered this report after Item 3 – minutes. 

The Panel noted the Growth Board’s responses to the recommendations to the Board 
from the Scrutiny Panel meeting on 22 November 2018 as set out in the Agenda. 
Councillor Gant updated the Panel on his attendance at the Growth Board on 27 
November 2018.

In discussion, the following points were highlighted and discussed:

 In respect of recommendation 3 relating to the proposed Oxford to Cambridge 
expressway, the Growth Board had clarified its stance as that set out in its letter 
to the Government of 1st October. 

 Members of the Panel remained concerned about the timing of the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 (JSSP) submission deadline and individual Local Plan submission 
deadlines without understanding more about the impact of the expressway. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=330&MId=2319&Ver=4
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=330&MId=2319&Ver=4


Officers updated the Panel on the status of their discussions with the 
Government on this issue. 

8. OXFORDSHIRE GROWTH BOARD PAPERS 29 JANUARY 2019 
FOR DISCUSSION 

The Panel discussed the reports published for the Oxfordshire Growth Board meeting 
on 29 January. 

The Committee’s discussion of the Agenda focussed on Item 9 of the Growth Board 
Agenda – an update on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (Joint Statutory Spatial Plan) and 
plans for the first stages of consultation. 

Councillor Simmons expressed concern that the draft Regulation 18 Part 1 Issues 
consultation document attached to the report did not make enough mention of climate 
change and referred to the formal comments made on the draft document by the 
Scrutiny Committee of Oxford City Council to the City Council’s Executive Board that it 
should work with the other five councils to strength the ambitions within the consultation 
document to address climate change. 

He proposed that the Scrutiny Panel recommend to the Growth Board that the 
Regulation 18 consultation document to be more consistent with international, national 
and local policies and targets concerning climate change and other likely future trends. 
This should include: 

a) alignment with the Government’s definition of ‘growth’ as contained with the 
Clean Growth Strategy 2018.

b) a greater recognition of the importance of climate change and its relationship 
with the forward planning of our housing, transport, health, wellbeing and 
economic infrastructure. 

c) a greater recognition of the ‘mega-trends’ that are expected to affect the 
demographic, climatic and technological environment. 

d) a ‘SMART’ target for greenhouse gas reductions against which all the 
aspirations and objectives are judged.

 
The proposal was seconded by Councillor White. 

The Panel debated the proposed recommendation extensively. A summary of points 
raised during the discussion included that:

 The Regulation 18 consultation also represented an ideal strategic opportunity to 
look at the Green Belt in the County. 

 That it was important that the document recognise the important principle of 
climate change. 

 That more time to reflect on the proposed recommendation was needed before a 
decision was taken. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=119&MId=4327
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=119&MId=4327


Councillor Woodcock clarified that the Panel was a non-decision-making body and 
suggested that as an alternative to the proposed recommendation he write to the Chair 
of the Growth Board and Leaders of the Oxfordshire district councils to express the 
Panel’s disappointment regarding the lack of recognition of climate change within the 
Regulation 18 consultation document and noting the response of the Oxford City 
Scrutiny Committee.  

Caroline Green, Interim Deal Director and Assistant Chief Executive Oxford City 
Council commented that the draft consultation document was being presented to the 
Growth Board for discussion and for it to note, but that formal legal approval of the 
document was a matter for each of the Oxfordshire district Councils not the Growth 
Board. It was also noted the consultation document was a formal planning document 
that had to be signed off.  

After further debate, as it was not possible to reach an agreed consensus, the 
proposed recommendation to the Growth Board was put to a formal vote and declared 
to be carried. 

The Panel agreed the following recommendation to the Growth Board:
That the Growth Board redrafts the Regulation 18 consultation document to be more 
consistent with international, national and local policies and targets concerning climate 
change and other likely future trends. This should include: 

a) alignment with the Government’s definition of ‘growth’ as contained with the 
Clean Growth Strategy 2018.

b) a greater recognition of the importance of climate change and its relationship 
with the forward planning of our housing, transport, health, wellbeing and 
economic infrastructure. 

c) a greater recognition of the ‘mega-trends’ that are expected to affect the 
demographic, climatic and technological environment. 

Consideration of a ‘SMART’ target for greenhouse gas reductions against which all the 
aspirations and objectives are judged.

9. WORK PROGRAMME FOR THE SCRUTINY PANEL - JANUARY 
2018 

The Panel discussed its work programme as set out in the Agenda. In light of earlier 
items there was a discussion around asking for a further update on affordable housing 
in July and requesting further information including a project plan from the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 (JSSP) team at the Panel’s next meeting in March. 

The Panel agreed to:

1. Request the project plan of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 team and a report on the 
impact of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) on the Green Belt. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



2. Request an update report from the Affordable Housing Sub-Group to include a 
clear breakdown of delivery rates and affordability targets for housing in the 
respective districts

10. DATES OF MEETINGS 
The Panel noted the dates of future meeting as:

Thurs 21 March 6.30 pm
Thurs 30 May 6.30 pm 
Thursday 25 July 6.30 pm 

All meetings to be held in Oxford Town Hall

The Panel discussed the possibility of amending the start times and locations of future 
meetings as a concern was expressed that a 6.30 pm time in central Oxford was 
difficult for some Councillors to attend.

Susan Harbour, Strategic Partnerships Manager – South and Vale District Council 
responded that dates and locations had been agreed with Councillor Gant as Chairman 
and it was logistically very challenging to find suitable alternative venues.  However, the 
members of the Panel would be canvassed outside the meeting to seek their views. 

The meeting started at 6.30 pm and ended at 8.40 pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



Programme for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
 
The production of the Oxfordshire Plan follows the same process and statutory stages and 
regulations as a Local Plan.  In brief these are: 
 

 
 
Consultation on the Regulation 18 part 1 document is currently underway (11th February to 25th 
March).  Work has therefore begun on the detailed scoping (and procurement) of the work 
necessary to produce the Regulation 18 part 2 document.  A great deal of evidence base work is 
required to inform and then support the draft options that will be contained in that document and 
be consulted on.  These include: 

• Sustainability Appraisal 
• Habitat Regulations Assessment 
• Housing Needs and Employment Needs Assessment 
• Land Availability including Call for Ideas 
• Green Belt Assessment 
• Water Cycle Study 
• Health Impact Assessment 
• Role of Town Centres 
• Living Labs 
• Landscape, Heritage and Character 
• Flood Risk Assessment 
• Natural Capital 
• Equalities Impact Assessment 
• Transport Assessment 
• Review of Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



 
Many of these streams of work are (or will be) new commissions from consultancies expert in their 
fields, others will involve collating already existing evidence from within the constituent authorities, 
and some will be pieces of work carried out by the Oxfordshire Plan team in-house. 
 
Alongside these evidence base studies there will also be an extensive programme of engagement 
and consultation and close working with the Duty to Co-operate Bodies including Oxfordshire’s 
neighbours and statutory agencies. 
 
The approved Local Development Scheme sets out the broad programme for the production of the 
Oxfordshire Plan with the key consultation milestones. 
 

Project Stage Date 

Early stakeholder engagement Commenced 

Consultation on Issues (Vision and objectives) (Reg 18 Part 1) Feb/Mar 2019 

Consultation on Issues (Scale of growth and broad locations) (Reg 18 
Part 2) Jun/Jul/Aug 2019 

Consultation on Proposed Submission Draft Plan (Reg.19) Oct/Nov/Dec 2019 

Submission (Reg.22) Mar 2020 

Examination (Reg.24) Sep 2020 tbc 

Receipt and Publication of Inspector’s Report Dec 2020 tbc 

Adoption (Reg.26) by each partner local planning authority Mar 2021 (subject to 
examination) 

 
It is worth noting that we are currently in discussion with MHCLG and Highways England with regard 
to the emerging programme for the OxCam Expressway project.  The Oxfordshire Plan and the 
OxCam Expressway are two current projects with very clear links and each would benefit from 
information sharing with the other.  It would be beneficial to the Oxfordshire Plan if the tasks 
involved in producing and testing options for the potential location of development were carried out 
alongside the tasks that Highways England will undertake to produce and test options for the 
potential location of the expressway.  Conversations with MHCLG and Highways England will 
continue to this end and this may have implications for the timings quoted above. 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



Oxfordshire Plan 2050 - Green Belt 
 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; 
the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 
 
The broad extent of the Green Belt in Oxfordshire was established in 1975. Green Belt boundaries were 
then formally defined in 1979 by the Oxfordshire Structure Plan. 
 
A full assessment of the Green Belt was commissioned by the Oxfordshire Growth Board and completed 
in 2015 and this helped inform decisions on how to meet Oxford City’s unmet housing need. District 
authorities have also undertaken focused Green Belt work to support to the production of Local Plans.   
 
The production of the Oxfordshire Plan offers an opportunity to carry out an assessment of the Oxford 
Green Belt in a holistic manner alongside the development of a strategic framework for growth up to 
2050. Therefore, it is intended to commission a new assessment of the Oxford Green Belt to inform and 
support the production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. This will provide up-to-date evidence to inform 
decision making and outline a Green Belt appropriate for the mid-21st Century. 
  
In a practical sense, a Green Belt Assessment assesses the relative performance of the Green Belt, and a 
Green Belt Review looks at the potential for areas to be removed from or added to the Green Belt. A 
Green Belt Review requires judgements to be made about the amount and location of land that should 
be added to or removed from the Green Belt, and is informed by a Green Belt Assessment as well as 
other planning issues. The first stage therefore is to carry out a Green Belt Assessment. 
 
The Green Belt Assessment undertaken to inform the Oxfordshire Plan will consider how the land within 
the Oxford Green Belt performs against the five purposes of Green Belts as set out in paragraph 134 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

a. to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b. to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  
c. to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  
d. to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e. to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 

land.  
 

Green Belt boundaries can only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and 
justified, and only through the preparation or updating of plans. The Oxfordshire Plan should therefore 
consider whether this is appropriate and necessary and it may be that a Green Belt Review forms a 
second phase of work following the Green Belt Assessment.  Any review would consider whether 
‘exceptional circumstances’ exist to make any recommendations relating to the alteration or review of 
Green Belt boundaries and consider opportunities for including additional areas of land within the Green 
Belt. 
 
Growth Board Scrutiny Committee may like to consider the following aspects of the Green Belt: 

• What should be the long-term vision for the Oxford Green Belt? 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



• Given the need for permanence, what might the Oxford Green Belt look and function like in the 
mid-21st century? 

• What local considerations should be included in the Green Belt Assessment? 
 

 
The Oxford Green Belt 
 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Scrutiny Panel Response. Draft response for consideration 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Consultation (February - March 2019) 

 Topic Responses from individual councillors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Foreword 
      Q1 

Introducing the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
This Plan will be a step change in our approach to securing the best Oxfordshire for 2050. 

It will set the framework for future decision making on big issues like development, 
infrastructure and placemaking. The Plan will be aspirational and use the opportunity of 

growth as a positive to improve the quality of life for everyone. We will engage with 
stakeholders and communities across Oxfordshire, and work through the plan making 
process collaboratively establishing a common purpose and vision for the county. We 
recognise the many assets and strengths of Oxfordshire, it is a very desirable place in 

which to live, work, study, visit and invest. There are real opportunities for continuing our 
economic success, enhancing the quality of the built and natural environment, improving 

quality of life, adapting to climate change and reducing inequalities. With a long-term 
focus, we hope to capture these opportunities and plan collectively for a sustainable 

future to the benefit of all in the county. There are many steps in the process of 
developing this plan and we are looking to engage with all those interested in the future of 

Oxfordshire to help shape it. This consultation document is intended to start a 
conversation which we hope will develop and continue throughout the process and lead to 

a plan for Oxfordshire that we can be proud of. Please get involved in and sign up to be 
kept informed throughout. The local authorities of Oxfordshire are working together to 

produce the Oxfordshire Plan. This project offers the chance to plan co-operatively, tackle 
complex issues that cross our individual boundaries, and draw up a strategic vision to 

2050. 

“The baseline for the 2050 plan should be 2031 
(or when the current local plans are delivered) 

There is a need to not just plan infrastructure to 
support growth but also infrastructure to support 

existing residents and businesses” 
 

“Placemaking really needs to be defined. As it 
stands it will be jibber jabber to many” 

 
“My concern is that much appears to be things 
being done to Oxfordshire not for Oxfordshire. 
Houses for commuters, they are advertised as 

such at developments around Banbury with 
timings to Marylebone. When what we want is 
housing for people already here. This must be 

retained as a focus of the Board.” 
 

“OK, stresses working together.” 
 

“Grammar on page 1. 'place in which to visit' 
needs to be changed. 'Adapting to climate 

change' isn't the whole thing, it's not enough. We 
have to also reduce our contribution to climate 

change, by zero carbon developments and 
transport changes. 'benefit to all in the county' 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 5



 
I'm therefore expecting this plan to adequately 

address our three biggest concerns to local people 
(after climate change); roads are over capacity, 
houses are unaffordable to average and lower 

earners, and inequality.” 
 

Q2 Introducing the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
1) The Oxfordshire Plan will cover the administrative county area of Oxfordshire. This will 
comprise the local planning authorities of: Cherwell District Council Oxford City Council 
South Oxfordshire District Council Vale of White Horse District Council West Oxfordshire 
District Council  
 
2) In 2018 the Oxfordshire authorities signed the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal 
with the government. In return for guaranteed funding for affordable housing, 
infrastructure and economic growth, the Oxfordshire authorities have committed to 
submit a Local Plan for each district, to plan for the delivery of 100,000 new homes to 
2031 (through those Local Plans) and to produce the Oxfordshire Plan. The scope of the 
Oxfordshire Plan was developed in the Scoping Document which was agreed by the 
partner authorities in October 2018 and endorsed by the Oxfordshire Growth Board 
 
3) The Growth Deal commits to an Oxfordshire Plan that covers the period to 2050. This is 
a significantly longer period than is typical with a Local Plan and is important in this 
strategic context. A significant amount of joint work across the Oxfordshire authorities has 
already taken place which has fed into the current and emerging round of Local Plans. 
These Local Plans cover the period from 2011 to 2031, 2034 or 2036. There is therefore a 
good deal of detail and certainty around that period as plans are well advanced. The latter 
period of the Oxfordshire Plan to 2050 will be based on a new evidence base produced 
specifically for the project. Future Local Plans will sit within the framework defined by the 
Oxfordshire Plan. 
 

“The evidence base must include a full review of 
the Oxford green belt and this review must be 

open to separate public consultation.” 
 

“So, the focus will be on new evidence relevant to 
the growth expected from about 2035 forward to 

2050. Of course, we are supposed to do it this 
way, but in reality, isn’t the planned Ox-Cam 

Expressway prescribing a growth rate 
unprecedented in our history? That isn’t evidence 

based; it's aspirational from the government.” 
 
 

Q3 VISION FOR THE OXFORDSHIRE PLAN 
4)  In 2050 the people of Oxfordshire are living in sustainable communities with a high 
quality of life and strong sense of community. The integrity and richness of the county's 
historic character and natural environment are valued and conserved. A wide range of 

“Climate change needs to be higher up the list of 
priorities. It is THE biggest challenge this county 
faces and should be central to the Plan 2050.” 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 5



 
secure and good quality housing options are within reach for all. Existing and new 
communities are well connected integrated, distinct, attractive and desirable places to 
live; their design and layouts facilitate healthy lifestyles and sustainable travel options. 
Productivity has increased and residents are well-skilled and able to access a wide range of 
high-value job opportunities and share in wealth creation. The private and public sector 
continue to have the confidence to invest in the county. Oxfordshire has embraced the 
technological, demographic and lifestyle changes of recent decades and new 
developments are fit for the future and resilient to climate change. The wellbeing of 
residents and workers is enhanced through being part of this special place. 
 

“Should there be some mention of environmental 
issues, especially with reference to air quality? “ 

 
“Is everyone going to be well-skilled? In "Brave 

New World" the range was greater from alpha to 
gamma.” 

 
“'sustainable communities' must include water, 

power, transport, communications, health 
services, education, employment, natural 

environment, air quality, housing that people can 
afford to buy or rent. Add home working. 
Especially add not contributing to global 

warming. Throughout all these docs I’ve only read 
that we need to be resilient to climate change, 

which ignores the fact that we are all contributors 
to it, and that must stop. We need our new built 

environments to be zero carbon or less.” 
Q4 OXFORDSHIRE CONTEXT 

5) There are many complex and interlinked factors that make Oxfordshire a desirable place 
to live, work, study, visit and invest. The following section provides an outline of the main 
factors. In some cases, these factors are real strengths and provide opportunities for the 
future, in others they are more challenging and in the most part they provide both 
opportunities and constraints. 
 

None 

Q5 Quality of life context 
6) Oxfordshire is generally regarded as a high-quality place to live. The attractive 
environment, accessible countryside, good employment prospects, high educational 
attainment, long life expectancy, safety and security, cultural richness and access to 
services and facilities are all factors which contribute to the quality of life in Oxfordshire. 
 
7) Oxfordshire or individual Oxfordshire authorities frequently perform very highly in 
rankings that aim to measure quality of life. The Office of National Statistics collects data 
on people's self-assessed levels of life satisfaction, worth, happiness and anxiety. In 

“you've introduced "low skills"... hope you haven't 
forgotten them later.” 

 
“Homelessness is growing. Deaths of homeless 

people have shocked residents. Poverty is growing 
too. This plan should have something in it to 
address and arrest these trends. There is no 

mention of the impact of Brexit on the economic 
outlook for Oxon for the years up to 2050. If retail 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 5



 
2017/18 the average ranking of Oxfordshire's residents is 7.87 out of 10 for life 
satisfaction, compared to a South-East average of 7.76 and an England average of 7.68.  
 
8) There are areas of deprivation however, with notable differences in life opportunities 
and quality of life even within relatively small geographic areas. In those more deprived 
areas (which can be found in each of the districts of Oxfordshire) residents often have 
lower wages and skills, educational attainment is lower and health is poorer. There are 
usually combinations of factors causing such inequalities to exist between areas. 
 

is the biggest employer, this plan should include 
steps to help retail workers have housing they can 

afford near to their work, to cut down on 
commuting and the resultant congestion and air 
pollution. We have below average attainment in 

writing and maths. This should be addressed if for 
no other reason than the children leaving school 

will lack the skills necessary for local employment. 
I think it's good that the intention is to have this 

plan assess the overall Green Belt strategy in 
Oxfordshire. For too long it's been left to 

individual authorities to nibble away at Green belt 
land as they are minded to. 'Oxford is the least 
affordable place to live in the UK'; this is not a 

quality of a world class city. WE need to address it 
in this plan. 'Long term solution to the A34 

congestion' should be addressed in this plan. Let's 
find a way for all the councils to keep the 

roadsides litter free. The condition of the A34 and 
the ring road (eastern bypass especially) is awful. 
Public transport (buses or trams) are essential for 
improving air quality, reducing road congestion, 
particularly with 100,000 new homes coming in 

these early years (to 2036). Assess our public 
transport strategy and find a way to drastically 

decrease the number of cars on the roads. I know 
there is LPT4, but there has been no improvement 

to the congestion on our roads, and I feel no 
confidence the next strategy of the same type will 

do much if anything. I think this plan should 
demand better transport. many of our planning 

applications define 'sustainability' as being within 
400m of a bus stop. So, hundreds of houses are 
built, and everyone uses their cars, and so the 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



 
buses fail to profit and are cut. That's not a good 

system.” 
Q6 Economic context 

9) Oxfordshire has a fast-growing economy focussed on innovation, technology, life 
sciences and education. Science Vale UK has the highest concentration of science research 
facilities in Western Europe and Harwell Campus is home to the largest space cluster in 
Europe. Oxford University is the number one-ranked University in the World and it 
generates more technology spin-outs than any other UK university. 
 
10) Oxfordshire has one of the strongest economies in the UK, it is one of only three net 
contributors to the treasury, delivering £21 billion per year to national output. The 
ambition of the Local Industrial Strategy (currently being prepared by the Oxfordshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership) is to position Oxfordshire as one of the top-three global 
innovation ecosystems by building on the region's world-leading science and technology 
clusters, by ensuring there is the business and research space needed to continue to be at 
the forefront of innovation. 
 
11) Oxfordshire's Labour Market Profile shows that it has high levels of employment with 
81.6% of economically active people in employment and the largest employment sectors 
in Oxfordshire are wholesale and retail; professional scientific and technical; education; 
human health and social work; manufacturing; accommodation and food services. The 
level of educational attainment is higher in Oxfordshire than the national average with 
50.7% of people having a level 4 or higher qualification (e.g. degree) with only 3.8% having 
no qualification. 63% of primary school pupils in Oxfordshire are meeting expected 
standards, with average scores in reading and below average in writing and maths. 46.3% 
of secondary school pupils in Oxfordshire achieved Grade 5 (high grade C/low B) or above 
in GCSE English and maths, above the England average. Educational qualifications alone 
are only one indicator, more broadly skills levels and availability of people with the right 
skills to match the needs of local employers is as important. 
 

“We have a huge shortage of labour in 
Oxfordshire and this is likely to become a bigger 
problem after Brexit. Vocational education is not 

recognised highly enough nationwide but this 
impacts on Oxfordshire significantly because we 
have high employment levels. The cost of living 

and housing in particular, is a barrier to economic 
growth and health and well-being.” 

 
 

“Oxfordshire does not have high educational 
attainment. Our schools do not perform well 

compared to other counties. Air quality is poor 
and needs tackling urgently” 

 

Q7 Natural and built environment context 
12) Oxfordshire has an attractive and diverse urban and rural landscape. The underlying 
geology criss-crossed by eight river systems including the Thames and its tributaries 
combined with a long history of agricultural use gives the County a gentle, yet complex, 

“Green belt revision must be subject to public 
consultation... not just a desk top exercise. Any 
changes must have public buy-in to ensure the 

new green belt is permanent. The Thames Valley 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 5



 
landscape character. In addition to extensive areas of farmland the county supports 
important wildlife habitats including woodlands, wetlands and riverside meadows and the 
means for active travel and recreation using the public rights of way and accessible 
countryside and greenspace network. 
 
13) Many parts of the county are protected at national and international level for their 
nature conservation value. Oxfordshire has 7 Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) that fall 
partly or entirely within the county. These are Oxford Meadows, Cothill Fen, Little 
Wittenham, Aston Rowant, Chilterns Beechwoods, Hackpen Hill and Hartslock Wood. 
There are 111 Sites of Special Scientific Interest in Oxfordshire, covering 4,495 hectares, 
which are protected at national level representative of the country's best habitats. There 
are many other sites identified for their ecological and geological interest including 362 
Local Wildlife Sites and 46 Local Geological Sites. 
 
14) Oxfordshire has many protected and highly valued landscapes, including the Chilterns 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the Cotswolds AONB and the North Wessex 
Downs AONB. The county also has a wealth of built environment assets. The county's 
historic market towns, picturesque villages and Oxford's dreaming spires draw in visitors 
from around the world. There are around 13,000 listed buildings and structures in 
Oxfordshire and over 200 conservation areas. There is a world heritage site at Blenheim 
Palace and many designated and non-designated heritage assets throughout the county. 
 
15) Oxfordshire's natural environment provides the setting for the city of Oxford and the 
county's towns and villages and provides places for leisure and recreation. The natural 
environment also provides a wide range of ecosystems services that benefit people 
including clean air, fresh water, surface water management and flood alleviation, food and 
forestry products, carbon capture and storage and the potential for renewable energy 
generation. There is a strong link between the natural environment and the health and 
well-being of people in Oxfordshire. The extent and condition of many of our 
environmental assets has been declining over the course of decades, with major 
challenges including climate change, air and water pollution, land contamination, 
fragmentation of habitats and a decline in biodiversity. 
 

water needs are not necessarily relevant to this 
plan, the proposed reservoir south of Abingdon 
would not serve our county at all, yet we would 

suffer the negative impacts.” 
 

“I am extremely concerned at the water situation. 
The prescribed growth along the Ox-Cam corridor 
will bring a level of growth unprecedented in all 
our history. Water sources need to be assessed, 

as well as renewable energy sources. Electric cars 
will mean an infrastructure change so that 

enough power is available in the right places to 
power these vehicles. How does the OxPlan2050 
fit in with the Ox-Cam corridor with one million 
new homes? I think this may be one of the most 

concerning parts of this plan. We are a dry 
county; where will we get water for the 

anticipated HUGE increase in our population? The 
planned reservoir in Vale is being challenged by 

all councils. What will we do?” 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 5



 
16) The Oxford Green Belt covers a significant area of the county. Green Belt is not a 
designation that recognises inherent biodiversity or landscape value in the same way as 
SSSI's or AONB's, but is designed to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open. The essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence. The Oxfordshire Plan offers an opportunity to assess the overall Oxford 
Green Belt strategy. 
 
17) The future requirement for water in the Thames Water catchment area is likely to be 
very much greater than they are today due to an increasing population and to support 
economic growth. The impact of climate change means that there is a need to protect the 
environment and strengthen our resilience to more severe drought. 
 

Q8) Housing context 
18) Housing costs in Oxfordshire are high, with both purchasing and renting costs above 
average. Although incomes and disposable incomes are above average, the wage to house 
price ratio is still very poor, making Oxfordshire one of the least affordable parts of the 
Country in which to live. Affordability ratios are 12.3 in Oxford, 11.86 in South Oxfordshire, 
11.24 in West Oxfordshire, 9.75 in Cherwell and 8.93 in the Vale of White Horse. This 
compares to a ratio of 7.9 in England as a whole and 10.3 in the South East. The Centre for 
Cities Outlook states Oxford as the least affordable city in the UK. 
 
19) High house prices threaten quality of life and wellbeing in Oxfordshire with issues such 
as overcrowding and homelessness on the rise. There are also implications for local 
businesses and the economy with large employers in health and education and social care 
sectors having problems with staff recruitment and retention due to the high cost of living. 
 
20) There are variations in house prices and availability across the county with district 
market towns and villages providing relatively affordable housing compared to the city. 
Many people choose to commute from areas where housing is relatively affordable to 
higher paid jobs elsewhere causing congestion on Oxfordshire's constrained transport 
network with knock on implications for the environment, economic productivity, air 
pollution and quality of life. 
 

“There is a contradiction in the plan. If the plan is 
to create jobs growth, the housing problem will 

get worse. We need to find a balance here.” 
 

“The contentious part.” 
 

“People who work here must be able to have a 
home here. Otherwise, our roads are worse and 
air quality suffers. Just notice how much better 

things are during half term? Parents aren’t 
driving their children to school and we can all get 
around and breathe more deeply. I'd like to see 

this plan address this issue.” 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 5



 
Q9) Health and wellbeing context 

21) The health of people in Oxfordshire and life expectancy is generally better than the 
England average although there are significant issues. The population is ageing and the 
number of people living with chronic and complex diseases is increasing. There are also 
inequalities of health and wellbeing across the county. Those in the most deprived areas of 
the county have poorer health and lower levels of life satisfaction and lower life 
expectancy. 
 
22) In terms of living healthy lifestyles, statistics show that Oxfordshire's residents have 
higher levels of physical activity and lower levels of adult obesity and smoking than the 
England averages although there are clearly still issues to be addressed. Ease of access to 
healthcare provision varies across the county; in rural areas, this can be difficult for less 
mobile residents. 
 
23) The cluster of hospitals in Oxford link clinical practice strongly with university research, 
which means cutting-edge clinical practice is available to residents albeit difficult to access 
due to congestion and accessibility issues. Primary healthcare is under pressure across the 
whole country, including Oxfordshire. A growing and ageing population means that access 
to primary healthcare will be increasingly important. The Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group published the Oxfordshire Primary Care Framework in 2017 sets out 
a model of primary and community care, to ensure it remains effective. It is focused on the 
roles general practice should play in the community, including supporting public health 
initiatives and promoting schemes which reduce variation in health inequalities. 
 

“Health services are not just those provided by 
CCGs. Children’s centres, youth centres, schools, 

etc. all provide health services and should be 
involved in this section.” 

 
 
 
 
 

Q10) Transport and connectivity context 
24) Oxfordshire sits on the busy road and rail transport corridor between the south coast 
ports, the Midlands and the North. It benefits from transport connections to London and 
the West Midlands via the M40 and close proximity to the M4 providing connections to 
the West and London. Many of Oxfordshire's roads are at or approaching capacity at peak 
times. The M40 carries the most traffic, particularly on the stretch between junctions 9 
and 10, which links the A34 via the A43 to the M1 carrying over 100,000 vehicles per day. 
The A34 carries up to 70,000 vehicles per day, including a large proportion of lorries. The 
county relies heavily on the A34 for local journeys and the route forms part of the Oxford 
ring road. The A34 is particularly vulnerable to disruption, as there is a lack of alternative 

“Cycling in Oxford need huge investment to get 
up to the Gilligan standards which the County 
have signed up to. Cycle provision elsewhere is 

poor and we need a comprehensive cycle plan for 
the whole county. We need to find ways to get 

people out of private cars and on to public 
transport.” 

 
“OK. Sets the parameters. Cycling on narrow 

country roads.... too risky” 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



 
North-South routes for journeys both within and through the county. The A40 is a major 
through route linking Gloucester and London and intersects with three key radial routes to 
the North of Oxford, where it forms part of Oxford's ring road. The route suffers from 
serious delays between Witney and Oxford due to the volume of through traffic, freight 
movements and commuter traffic which uses the route. The A420 is another important 
principal route running through our county, linking Oxford with Swindon, which is 
congested in some areas at peak times. 
 
25) The Oxford-Cambridge Expressway linking Oxfordshire to Milton Keynes and onto 
Cambridgeshire is likely to further increase demand for through travel, so a long-term 
solution to congestion on the A34 is important. The route of the Ox-Cam Expressway will 
have implications for local highway conditions as well as shaping the spatial strategy for 
the Oxfordshire Plan. 
 
26) Within Oxford there is a very comprehensive bus network and this represents the 
mode of choice for 48% of people travelling to the city centre however, public transport 
links within the eastern arc of the city, is not so comprehensive. There is a network of 
frequent bus services linking the county's towns with Oxford although bus provision linking 
smaller rural settlements to urban areas is very limited. With limited bus priority measures 
into Oxford, the reliability of inter-urban bus routes are affected by traffic congestion and 
so often the simpler choice for residents of the towns and rural areas and therefore the 
preference, is to travel by car. This is partially mitigated by the very popular Park & Ride 
schemes on the edge of Oxford, which have been developed since the 1970s in 
conjunction with restrictions on access to the city centre. 
 
27) The rail network is very well used and provides frequent connections between several 
of Oxfordshire's main towns and beyond to London, Birmingham and Bristol. Recently the 
new link from Oxford Parkway to Marylebone opened up an alternative mainline link with 
London. A significant level of freight also passes through the county on route to the South 
coast ports. The network is operating close to capacity, so significant work to signals and 
doubling of lines is required increase it. London Oxford Airport located at Kidlington offers 
primary regional and business aviation services. 
 

 
 “Ageing populations need smaller spaces to live 

in that are more linked by easy to use public 
transport to health and social services. I live in 

Botley and it takes hours for me to get to Oxford 
hospitals by public transport. It may be brag-

worthy cutting edge care, but it's really hard to 
get there and not enough parking when you do 

arrive.” 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 5



 
28) Oxford is well known for its high levels of cycling and there are some cycle connections 
between other towns and areas of employment but this is far from comprehensive. 
Outside the city walking and cycling are not always seen as feasible or desirable modes of 
travel especially for commuting despite the health and environmental benefits they offer. 
 

Q11) 29) Localised effects are felt from emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx), which cause 
respiratory illness. Air quality is regularly monitored at many locations across Oxfordshire. 
At some locations air quality is at levels where legal intervention is required by Local 
Authorities. There are currently 13 AQMAs in Oxfordshire, where the annual mean 
objective for nitrogen dioxide is being exceeded (four in Cherwell, one covering the whole 
of Oxford city, three in South Oxfordshire, three in Vale of White Horse and two in West 
Oxfordshire). There are also Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) in Oxfordshire which are 
particularly vulnerable to air pollution. Rail electrification should improve air quality 
adjacent to rail lines and around stations. 
 
30) Oxfordshire County Council's Local Transport Plan 4 aimed to ensure that the county's 
transport systems were fit to support population and economic growth. It is anticipated 
that the LTP will be reviewed and updated in line with the Oxfordshire Plan. 
 
31) The Oxfordshire County Council led programme for improving broadband 
infrastructure has already achieved its December 2017 target of achieving 95% of premises 
having access to superfast broadband, and is set to out-turn 97% coverage by 2019. A 
barometer of how important this is to Oxfordshire is evidenced by very high adoption of 
fibre broadband in the county, where 50% of premises enabled by the Better Broadband 
programme have already taken up new fibre services. Early planning is now underway to 
find solutions for the remaining very rural premises, focussing on enhancing the fibre 
footprint to reach agricultural businesses, as well as enhancing the availability of cost 
effective very high speed fibre services for businesses and public sector across the county. 
Strategic convergence of mobile and fixed data networks is expected to develop 
commercially over the next five to ten years, as 5G mobile data standards are confirmed. 
 

“AQMAs need effective strategies for improving 
air quality. My experience of the districts' efforts 
is that they seem to use the excuse that solutions 

are complex and involve several agencies as a 
reason to do nothing. This plan can do better. 

County's previous LPTs have done little or nothing 
to improve the congestion on our roads. I have 
low confidence in any more of the same sort of 
thing to do any better. Lets' see if there's a new 

way of approaching our transport planning. 
Broadband projects have been ongoing, but I 

have to admit I have never seen an improvement 
in my internet connection. So, what's been missed 

out?” 
 
 

Q12) ASPIRATIONS 
32) When considering the future of Oxfordshire over such a long timeframe it is important 
to first make some important choices in terms of the aspirations of the plan based on an 

“Climate change should be the number one 
aspiration, as per the Stakeholder launch event” 

 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 5



 
understanding of where we are today and what is proposed in current and emerging Local 
Plans. At this stage of the process in producing the Oxfordshire Plan we are keen to 
explore those aspirations to ensure that the underlying assumptions for the policies are 
sound and reflect the needs and desires of the communities of the people of the county. 
 
33) Each of these aspirations would offer real benefits to future generations if embraced in 
the plan. Some of them however if taken to the extreme, or taken in isolation, would also 
likely result in real issues or have knock-on impacts for other elements of the plan. 
 
34) These are not simple either /or choices. They interlink and in some cases, are 
interdependent on each other. As with all complex planning issues there are choices to be 
made and balances that need to be struck. It is likely that different degrees of these 
aspirations, in combination, will be required and difficult decisions need to be made 
between them. 
35) We are keen to explore these issues so that we can decide where the appropriate 
balances may lie. The discussion on aspirations will lead to some objectives for the plan; 
below draft objectives are suggested and we welcome views on those. 

“An honest assessment of our population growth 
over the period should be part of this plan. We 

have out of date and much too high SHMA figures 
driving housing numbers in the districts. I read 

that this OxPlan50 will use the new calculations. 
Then a realistic assessment of the housing figures 
actually needed would be a good starting point. 

Whether there is then more added on for 
aspirational economic growth seems to be 

disputable and certainly a matter of political will. 
Local people don’t want the numbers of housing 
that come with the expressway, especially not at 

the expense of beautiful wild and open spaces. So, 
to counteract the impact of the expressway, I 

think we would all benefit from some rewilding 
programmes across the county.” 

Q13) 36) Oxfordshire has an attractive and diverse landscape with high quality built and natural 
assets. The heritage of places such as Oxford city centre and Blenheim Palace and the 
character of historic market towns and villages are real assets to the county. The county 
has substantial areas of internationally and nationally valued habitats and landscapes set 
within a mosaic of other areas of important wildlife habitat, high quality landscape, 
productive agricultural land, significant rivers and wetlands. Oxfordshire's farmed, rural 
and settled landscapes are valued for being accessible through the extensive public rights 
of way network. 
 
37) These aspects are in large part what makes Oxfordshire so special and make it a 
desirable place to live and work. It is a key aspect of the tourism economy in the county, 
attracting visitors and supporting jobs. It is likely that the quality of the environment in 
Oxfordshire sets it apart from other "competitor" economies in the UK and further afield. 
This plays a large part in attracting investment and employees to help grow local 
businesses. 
 

“Item 39. Yes, AND we must responsibly reduce 
drastically our contribution to climate change. We 

aren't just passive victims. Out planning policies 
can help. I've seen these sorts of objectives 

included in lots of planning policy docs, but when 
it comes down to permissions, growth trumps 

protection.” 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 5



 
38) There is a long-term responsibility on us to ensure that these environmental and 
cultural assets are maintained and enhanced for the benefit of future generations of 
Oxfordshire residents. There is also a clear short to medium term benefit in terms of 
preserving our quality of life and the county's distinctive character. 
 
39) The implication of this aspiration is that consideration (based on a clear 
understanding) of the environmental assets of the county should be fundamental to the 
choices made in the plan. Choices such as the locations of new developments should be 
led and guided by information on the value and quality of the environment. This may 
mean that development options that provide opportunities for improvement to and 
enhancement of the natural and built environment (and access for them to be enjoyed 
where appropriate) would be favoured. Future development will have to be designed to 
anticipate and mitigate climate change.  
 
Draft Objective 1 
 
To maintain and enhance the historic built and natural environment of the county through 
strategic investment and high quality design and to capitalise on the benefits these assets 
contribute to quality of life and economic success  
 
Draft Objective 2 
 
To protect and enhance the County's distinctive landscape character, recreational and 
biodiversity value by considering the benefits these assets bring when selecting areas for 
growth, by optimising densities, by improving connectivity between environmental assets 
and securing a net gain for biodiversity. 
 

Q14) Aspiration 2 - Strong and healthy communities 
40) Oxfordshire is a very diverse county with areas of deprivation in amongst areas where 
residents have a higher quality of life. There are many aspects that effect inequalities 
including skills, employment, security of housing and health. These factors link and 
combine to result in people facing different life opportunities. Disparities are also 
emerging between the generations (in particular linked to housing) and to some extent 

“Are our new communities having allotments 
provided there? What can local government do to 

ensure bus services and access are available 
ongoingly? (Every week we seem to hear of 

another bus service stopping. This is moving the 
wrong way. Cycle aspirations aren't showing up 

really. In my area of Botley we still have too many 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 5



 
between urban and rural communities (in particular linked to digital and public transport 
connectivity). 
 
41) Long term planning presents an exceptional opportunity to shape healthy and thriving 
places where the right policies, environment and partnership working are adopted to 
empower individuals, communities and organisations to make healthier choices and 
reduce the burden of long term illness or disability and create inclusive communities. Our 
ambition is to plan for and shape communities to actively promote health and wellbeing 
and make it easier for people to enjoy healthy and sustainable lives. 
 
42) There is a clear benefit to ensure that all residents of Oxfordshire have a good quality 
of life and that they are able to access jobs, secure housing, health and social care. This will 
enable everyone to fully play a part and make their contribution in making the county a 
sustainable community with the services it needs. The Plan could provide an opportunity 
to ensure a long-term and co-ordinated approach to healthy place-making across 
Oxfordshire building on the good practice of the Healthy New Towns projects in Barton 
and Bicester. 
 
43) The implications of this aspiration for the Oxfordshire Plan are less direct than several 
of the others but it would affect the way in which a range of policies are framed. For 
example, it could mean that greater emphasis is placed on providing a range of different 
housing options to suit different parts of the community. It could mean that economic 
policies are framed to try and ensure that the benefits of economic growth are shared 
widely throughout the community rather than focused on particular sectors. It could mean 
including policies that seek to address inequality of access to local services or public 
transport. More broadly it could mean making sure that choices taken in the plan are 
based on considerations of health and wellbeing for example. 
 
44) The international, national and local policies and targets around mitigating and 
adapting to climate change requires a response in how we design new homes and 
businesses, structure our economy, build our communities and move goods and people.  
 
Draft Objective 3 
 

accidents where cyclists are forced to join the 
road network for short distances. If we have 

nearly full employment, but are severely short of 
affordable housing, the choice seems clear that 

we need more houses, but Oxford still wants more 
jobs. How to smooth that out? “ 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 5



 
To improve health and wellbeing by enabling independence, encouraging healthy 
lifestyles, facilitating social interaction and creating inclusive and safe communities  
 
Draft Objective 4 
To create sustainable communities by providing good access to employment, housing, 
open space, transport, education, services and facilities to meet identified needs and that 
respond to the challenges of climate change. 
 

Q15) 45) Oxfordshire's economy is vibrant and dynamic, even though difficult economic times, 
local businesses have continued to emerge and grow and our employment rates are good. 
We have strengths in a range of sciences and research and development sectors which 
provide large numbers of high value jobs. The government has recognised these strengths 
and sees Oxfordshire as a key contributor to their industrial strategy for the future. The 
Local Industrial Strategy is a response to this and establishes a plan for building on our 
current strengths and taking opportunities that are presenting themselves to Oxfordshire 
businesses. 
 
46) It is clearly desirable that future generations of Oxfordshire residents will be able to 
access high value, quality jobs in the future. Decisions taken in the Oxfordshire Plan will 
have an important impact on the opportunities for economic growth and investor 
confidence in the county. Maximising the creation of wealth in the county will help 
address infrastructure challenges and tackle inequalities. The Oxfordshire Plan needs to 
recognise the strengths and ambitions of the government and of local businesses and will 
have a role in helping to achieve some of those. Oxfordshire has an ambition to develop a 
number of Living Labs to develop and test technological and sustainability solutions in real-
life situations to support our role as a world leader in these research areas. 
 
47) The implication of this aspiration is that the Oxfordshire Plan makes provision for 
growth in order to help support the local economy and maintain Oxfordshire's role in the 
national economy. Even without the Oxfordshire Plan, additional economic capacity will 
need to be provided in the period to 2050 as national policy states that plans need to "set 
out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively encourages 
sustainable economic growth, having regard to Local Industrial Strategies". 
 

“Too much focus on high level jobs growth. Is that 
what we really need? Isn’t that exacerbating our 
vacancy rates, inequality and high house prices?” 

 
“Clearly future workers would benefit enormously 

from joined up schooling and training. I'm 
surprised to see the below average educational 

attainment in critical subjects of writing and 
maths. So, if our largest employment sector is 

retail, what are we doing to ensure school leavers 
are employable and that once employed here 

they will be able to afford a place to live?” 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 5



 
48) The vitality of town centres have been negatively affected by the development in the 
1990s-2000s of out-of-town shopping centres with free parking, the diverse range goods 
available at supermarkets and online retailing. Some of our market towns have seen new 
town centre shopping developments come forward in the last 10 years and the 
Oxfordshire Plan should build on this to continue to bring activity and spend back to town 
centres to support local businesses and foster vibrant communities. 
 
49) As with housing numbers, it is for Oxfordshire to determine (in the light of the 
evidence available) the appropriate level of economic growth over the plan period.  
 
Draft Objective 5 
 
To establish the right conditions to sustain and strengthen the role of Oxfordshire in the 
UK economy by building on our key strengths and assets  
 
Draft Objective 6 
 
To create a prosperous, successful and enterprising economy with benefits felt by all. 
 
 

Q16) Aspiration 4 - Improve housing availability and affordability 
50) Oxfordshire has very real issues of housing availability and affordability with local 
people who grew up in the county finding it increasingly difficult to establish themselves in 
their local area. Key service providers (such as the NHS and schools) and a wide range of 
employers’ report difficulty in recruiting and retaining staff due to living costs, and 
affordability issues mean that for some parts the community both home ownership and 
renting has become out of reach. 
 
51) A clear aspiration for the Oxfordshire Plan is to try and address these issues, to try and 
ensure that a wide range of housing options are available and truly affordable to those 
who want to live and work here; whether that be due to local family ties, because they are 
employed in key roles in the county or because they recognise what a special place 
Oxfordshire is. 
 

“When we say 'affordable' we need to mean 
something other than what we mean today (80% 

of market price). If the outlying districts are 
required to supply housing for the Oxford 
employment market, then, since Oxford is 

absolutely the most unaffordable city, we need 
alternative housing schemes that work to provide 
a safe and desirable community in which to live 

that is also conveniently linked to Oxford's 
employment centres. All I see is market 

developers working to maximise their profit and 
build executive homes selling for a million pounds. 

That won’t solve our problems,  we need 
innovative schemes to bring forward, that 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 5



 
52) The implication of this aspiration is that the Plan makes provision for the delivery of 
additional housing beyond the 100,000 provided in current and emerging Local Plans. Even 
without the Oxfordshire Plan, additional housing will need to be provided in the period up 
to 2050 and national policy is that plans need to make provision for the housing needs of 
their area. 
 
Draft Objective 7 
 
To meet the county's identified housing needs, particularly affordable housing and support 
our selected economic aspirations  
 
Draft Objective 8 
 
To ensure that a range of housing options are available that will cater for a variety of 
needs and are built for adaptability, energy efficiency and to a high quality. 
 

probably DO NOT involve market developers. 
They aren't the solution to our housing 

affordability problem. For instance, is there 
anywhere a person can buy or rent a home for an 

amount that's based on their ability to pay?” 

Q17) Aspiration 5 - Improve connectivity and movement 
53) Much of Oxfordshire benefits from good connections to other parts of the county, into 
neighbouring areas and to important centres for employment. Other parts of the county 
are much less well connected both physically and virtually (i.e. broadband facilities). There 
are also pressures on the current networks that will need to be considered when planning 
for the next round of growth. Investment in new networks and connections is often very 
expensive and much of that is funded by the development that it unlocks; in essence this 
means that providing significant new pieces of infrastructure is only usually realistic where 
new development is delivered. 
 
54) As the Oxfordshire Plan, will look towards 2050, it is important that we don't simply 
assess proposals against an understanding of current lifestyles, technologies or practice. 
Whilst we will need to make sure that choices are evidenced and deliverable, we will need 
to provide some flexibility for adaptations to be made as technological advances occur and 
habits change. For example, in the earlier part of the plan it is reasonable to assume that a 
piece of highway infrastructure will serve bus and private car travel; in the later part of the 
plan it is likely that technologies will have changed offering different mass and personal 
travel choices and that lifestyles will also have adapted making a rush-hour commute, for 

“Yes. I'm waiting to see where this plan looks at 
renewable energy sources.” 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 5



 
example, a thing of the past. This will mean the same piece of highways infrastructure will 
need to adapt its function and opportunities are likely to arise out of that. Digital 
infrastructure is already vital to the way businesses and homes operate and this is likely to 
intensify in the future. It is possible that digital infrastructure will become as or more 
important than highways infrastructure in the future. 
 
55) The implication of this aspiration is that choices such as the location of new 
development should be informed by the ability for them to connect into existing networks 
or be planned at a scale that would support new effective connections or networks. For 
example, this might mean that development that can either connect into existing 
transport networks, or which is of a scale that can support its own new public transport 
connections should be favoured over those which are poorly located or of a scale that 
wouldn't support the required investment. The plan will need to factor in changing 
technologies and lifestyles and where possible make provision for more digital 
connectivity.  
 
Draft Objective 9 
 
To reduce the need to travel and provide better travel choices, ensuring that walking and 
cycling are convenient and attractive, and that public transport is preferred by residents to 
private car ownership and use. 
 
Draft Objective 10 
 
To promote development in the most sustainable locations and co-locating homes and 
jobs; then connecting those less sustainable locations through improved public transport 
and digital networks 
 

Q18) POTENTIAL SPATIAL SCENARIOS 
56) The Oxfordshire Plan will identify broad locations for housing and economic growth 
but will not allocate sites except at the request of the relevant local planning authority. 
This will follow through separate plans produced at the local level. It will be a challenge to 
settle on the best locations for growth. Decisions around where housing will be located for 

“The fact that existing roads are at capacity is the 
elephant in the room. This MUST be addressed.” 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 5



 
example will be difficult and are likely to be emotive; specific local concerns will need to be 
considered alongside the strategic need for homes and employment opportunities. 
 
57) The following section presents a range of options that may be available in Oxfordshire 
for accommodating new development. The broad scenarios that follow are, at this stage, 
deliberately conceptual, and are presented here to offer an opportunity to explore their 
merits and drawbacks. At later stages of Plan production, these will be explored in more 
depth, in particular, how they might apply within Oxfordshire's geography and context. 
 
58) The spatial form of development that emerges in the Plan is likely to follow a 
combination of the broad scenarios outlined here. These overarching scenarios are not 
necessarily mutually exclusive and the preferred scenario is likely to involve a combination 
of these options: Intensification of city, town and district centres Commonly encouraged in 
Local Plans in line with the NPPF but unlikely to be enough to meet needs Focus on 
housing and economy may conflict with other important functions of these centres 
Townscape character may be affected There are usually good existing transport links, 
although they may already be at capacity. 
 
Intensification of 
city, town and 
district centres 

 

 Commonly 
encouraged in 
Local Plans in 
line with the 
NPPF but 
unlikely to be 
enough to meet 
needs 

 Focus on 
housing and 
economy may 
conflict with 
other important 
functions of 
these centres 

 Townscape 
character may 
be affected 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 5



 
 There are usually 

good existing 
transport links, 
although they 
may already be 
at capacity 

Intensification of 
development 
within existing 
suburbs 

 

 Land assembly is 
challenging with 
multiple 
landowners 

 Highly disruptive 
for existing 
residents 

 Focuses 
development 
close to, and 
supports, 
existing services 
and connections 

Intensification 
around the edges 
of larger 
settlements and 
strategic 
extensions 

 

 Can link into 
existing public 
transport 
networks 

 Focuses 
development 
close to, and 
supports, 
existing services 
and connections 

 These locations 
may be in the 
Green Belt and 
development 
may affect the 
purposes of the 
Green Belt 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 5



 
Spoke and hub 

(Continue to focus 
on Oxford and key 
corridors in to 
Oxford) 

 

 Concentrates 
transport along 
routes that are 
already at high 
capacity 

 May offer 
opportunities for 
funding to 
enhance 
strategic 
corridors 

 This would not 
help 'spread the 
load' of new 
development, 
but would mean 
improving 
existing 
infrastructure, 
which might be 
efficient, but 
much will 
depend on the 
potential of 
existing 
infrastructure to 
be improved to 
take new 
development 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 5



 
New settlement/s 

 

 Depending on 
location, it may 
or may not be 
close to existing 
high quality 
transport 
corridors 

 Would need to 
be of a sufficient 
scale to support 
provision of 
sufficient new 
infrastructure. 

 May have a 
negative 
environmental 
impacts and but 
could be 
designed to 
deliver 
environmental 
gains 

 Designing a 
settlement from 
scratch provides 
opportunities for 
urban design 
principles to be 
followed 
throughout, 
such as Garden 
Town principles 

 A new 
settlement 
would take a 
long time to be 
delivered 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 5



 
Dispersal 

(This would involve 
spreading new 
development 
evenly across the 
county, including in 
smaller 
settlements) 

 

 Small sites are 
unlikely to 
generate 
infrastructure 
needs alone, so 
are unlikely to 
significantly 
contribute to 
improvements 
to infrastructure 

 The character of 
a smaller 
settlements 
might be 
adversely 
affected by new 
development 

 Expanding some 
smaller 
settlements can 
support local 
shops, pubs and 
bus services 

 Smaller sites 
may improve 
deliverability 
rates due to 
competing 
developers 

 Dispersal is 
unlikely to meet 
the employment 
land needs of 
the county - 
larger businesses 
often need large 
sites and there 
are advantages 
to clustering 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 5



 
'String' settlement 
/ settlement 
cluster 

(Development 
focused on a 
number of linked 
settlements. It 
could involve new 
and/or 
existing/expanded 
settlements) 

 

 May or may not 
be close to 
existing high 
quality transport 
corridors 

 Relies on there 
being suitable 
broad locations 
available for this 
type of 
development 

 This may involve 
promoting 
development at 
some existing, 
currently small, 
settlements, 
which may 
significantly 
change their 
character 

 A number of 
smaller 
settlements 
could 
collectively, be 
of sufficient 
scale to be 
served by shared 
infrastructure 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 5



 
'Wheel' settlement 
cluster 

(Focus on Oxford 
and the existing 
larger towns and 
the key corridors in 
to Oxford and 
between the 
towns) 

 

 This could be a 
variation on the 
spoke and hub 
approach but 
with the added 
benefits of 
stronger links 
between the 
towns 

 Could take some 
of the pressure 
off the corridors 
into Oxford 

 

Q19) 59) This Plan aims to make the process understandable and transparent to all potential 
interested parties. It will explore all reasonable options for locating new development, 
exploring to what degree the options meet the objectives of the Oxfordshire Plan so that 
whatever decisions are taken, they are clearly justified. How locations perform in 
sustainability terms and potential capacities will be assessed at the next stage of the plan-
making process. The views of communities and stakeholders arising from this consultation 
will also be taken into consideration when refining options. 

“Off the top of my head and in a first glance, I 
have no preference for one of these scenarios 

over any other. I suppose it's dependent on where 
they're located. However, really large 

developments (say 100+ houses) have not 
supplied any new road capacity and have 

gridlocked roads that used to be barely coping. Is 
there a team keeping track of current road and on 

street parking capacity?” 
 

Q20) INFRASTRUCTURE CONSIDERATIONS 
60) It is vital that when planning for a sustainable future, full account is taken of the 
infrastructure needs associated with new development and infrastructure required to 
improve existing networks to accommodate growth. 
 

“New housing estates bring new problems that 
should have been foreseen and mitigated. Near 

me, 130 new home with one entrance to the 
estate has brought unimaginable parking 

problems on the main roads leading to the 
entrance to this estate. That, coupled with 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 5



 
61) The successful delivery of the housing and economic growth within the Oxfordshire 
Plan will require a strategic approach with infrastructure delivery, particularly transport 
and environmental planning. Many towns and roads in Oxfordshire struggle during peak 
times with average annual traffic flows increasing year on year. The Oxfordshire 
Infrastructure Strategy (OXIS) was prepared on behalf of the Oxfordshire Growth Board to 
provide a view of emerging development and infrastructure requirements to support 
growth from 2016 to 2031 and beyond. This work will be reviewed alongside the 
production of the Plan. 
 
62) Improving connectivity, digital access, public transport networks, high quality walking 
and cycling access to transport hubs and reducing congestion are critical to delivering a 
highly functioning transport network in Oxfordshire which will in turn support economic 
growth by improving the movement of people and commercial goods. We must also 
acknowledge the importance of wider community infrastructure including schools, health 
and leisure facilities and basic utilities including water, sewerage and energy.  
 
Key regional projects 
 
63) During the period of the plan there are several large-scale infrastructure projects that 
are likely to come forward including the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway, East-West rail 
and the projects emerging from Thames Water's strategy for improving water supply, 
particularly the South East Strategic Reservoir Option for Oxfordshire. 
 
64) Decisions on each of these will have an impact upon how and in what way Oxfordshire 
should and is able to grow. The big challenge for the Oxfordshire Plan is the different 
timescales of these projects and how the Plan should respond to them or how the Plan can 
influence them. We are working with decision makers to identify the ways in which 
projects can relate and interlink with the Oxfordshire Plan. 
 

commuters who use residential streets in my area 
as a free park and ride or park and bike, make it 
worse for everyone. So, I question the adequacy 
of our current method for assessing transport 
impacts of new housing developments. Let’s 

consult on this and assess how well we perform 
today. Then change to improve for tomorrow.” 

Q21) Transport connectivity 
65) Planned transport infrastructure in Oxfordshire (for the earlier part of the Oxfordshire 
Plan) is set out in the Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan and reflected in the Oxfordshire 
Infrastructure Strategy. This facilitates movements of different modes of transport around 
the county's road and rail network and is aimed at increasing the capacity of the network, 

“If officers are confident a good plan will unlock 
infrastructure funding, then go for it. I myself am 

doubtful. I have seen no improvements in last 
many years. For example, how did the City plan 
help? Roads are more congested than ever with 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 5



 
improving cycle networks and mitigating the impact of vehicular traffic on the local 
environment. These planned interventions will contribute to addressing existing issues of 
congestion and poor air quality and mitigate the impact of 100,000 new homes already 
planned for in existing and emerging Local Plans. 
 
66) However, there is still a funding gap and deliverability issues for many strategic 
projects and so their delivery is not guaranteed. A bold, forward thinking Oxfordshire Plan 
that sets a clear vision for growth is more likely to release opportunities for Government 
funding and will help direct local authority funding and developer funding (Community 
Infrastructure Levy and Section 106) income to the projects that are priorities for 
supporting growth. The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal also states that the 
Oxfordshire authorities will explore the potential for a countywide Strategic Infrastructure 
Tariff, to increase the flexibility of the developer contribution system, and encourage cross 
boundary planning to support the delivery of strategic infrastructure. 
 
67) The Plan should recognise that technology will differ dramatically later in the plan 
period than it does now and this is likely to have a significant bearing on lifestyle choices 
and opportunities to travel in different ways. Electric vehicle use is already expanding and 
is likely to be common place by the 2030's. Innovation is already taking place in the 
development of autonomous vehicles which are likely to become a feature on the highway 
network in the coming years. 
 
68) However, the Plan and the decisions on supporting infrastructure also needs to get the 
basics right as well as planning for future technologies. Public transport (in whatever form 
might be available in the future) must be able to function efficiently and reliably with 
priority at junctions and on shared road spaces and utilising smart technology. The design 
of developments should encourage the use of public transport and provide connections to 
encourage people to walk and cycle to jobs, services and transport hubs and improve 
connectivity to the county's accessible greenspaces.  
 
Digital connectivity 
 
69) Digital connectivity of people, things and places through broadband and mobile 
telecommunications has increased and improved dramatically in recent years. The ability 

no remedy in sight. I believe the expressway will 
just being more cars and more congestion and 

that a different solution is necessary.” 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 5



 
for people to access services and perform tasks from anywhere at any time via connected 
devices has meant a dramatic change in human behaviour. Further growth in these 
technologies will require improved capacity. 
 
70) With planned rollout of fibre networks to rural areas around Oxfordshire, communities 
will be better connected than ever before. By 2050, digital connectivity improvements in 
tandem with other technological advances are likely to have transformational effects on 
lifestyles, employment, access to services and the way in which people interact with one 
another. 
 
71) The Oxfordshire Plan should be mindful of such transformational technology as it is 
likely to affect the way in which people physically move around the county, with potential 
implications for land use patterns and the design of homes and offices in both urban and 
rural areas. To support connected and included communities the Oxfordshire Plan should 
push for consistently being at the cutting edge of world-leading digital connectivity. 
 

Q22) Energy 
 
72) With technological advancements in transport and digital connectivity, more houses, 
businesses and an increasing population, the supply and demand of energy across the 
county is a key issue to be addressed. In addition to this, tighter environmental regulations 
mean that the energy generated must be greener to reduce carbon emissions. 
 
73) The existing grid for distributing energy around the county is constrained and the 
Oxfordshire Energy Strategy is considering ways in which the network can be 
strengthened. In the future energy networks, will be based around decentralised and 
community energy provision. The Oxfordshire Plan must therefore facilitate a shift 
towards lower energy demand and low carbon forms of energy development. 
 
74) Much of the development in Oxfordshire to 2050 will be comprised of residential 
development so opportunities must be sought to improve the energy efficiency of homes 
and reduce energy demands of households. It will be important for new developments to 
maximise energy efficiency whilst integrating renewable and smart energy technologies in 
order to minimise energy demand.  

“Energy: we need to assess how we can use 
renewable energy to accommodate housing and 

population growth and still reduce carbon 
emissions to zero. I'd like to see this plan commit 

to that. Social infrastructure is straining after 
years of austerity. We don't have enough school 
funding, NHS funding, police funding, social car 
funding. I'm sure there's more. It feels unlikely 

that the OxPlan50 will be able to realistically plan 
for what we need, when central government isn't 

inclined to fund it at all. In fact, this is most 
discouraging. They gave us very little money to be 
getting on with, and not any assurance that there 

will be more forthcoming.” 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 5



 
 

Social infrastructure 
75) Planning for school places and health services are critical elements of delivering 
successful places. Population growth if not planned carefully, can add pressure on services 
for new and existing residents. There is a strong level of provision of school places (and 
special needs school places) throughout Oxfordshire with existing schools being extended 
and new schools being planned to support growth. Cherwell in particular has the largest 
available capacity of the five local authorities. The highest concentrations of primary 
schools are within Oxford, and the main towns including Didcot, Banbury and Bicester. In 
certain settlements (e.g. Witney, Bicester, and Oxford City) there are clusters of schools 
which either have a current deficit of provision, or have fewer than 10 places available and 
where new schools are being planned. 
 
76) There are some areas of the County which geographically show a lack of secondary 
education providers (e.g. North West Oxfordshire), however given wider catchments for 
secondary schools, and that secondary age pupils can be expected to travel further to 
access schools; there is good access to secondary education provision across the County. 
Notably, there is very little evidence of deficiency in provision, with only one area (Oxford 
City) which has a school with a deficit in secondary places, and three others (one in South 
Oxfordshire and two in Cherwell) which have less than ten places available. 
 
77) The Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group oversees GP and other primary and 
acute healthcare, they anticipate delivering new primary care services 'at scale' rather 
than through a number of small practice sites. This offers more opportunities to deliver 
more services, although it should be noted that there will be strategic sites where a 
smaller GP practice will be essential. It will also be necessary for the traditional GP to 
change to adapt to the demands of modern healthcare. 
 
78) One of the biggest impacts on social care services is likely to be from an ageing 
population. Oxfordshire's Joint Health & Wellbeing Board have an aspiration to shift the 
focus of care from nursing homes to the assisted living (extra care) approach. There are 
already 13 schemes opened or under construction between 2011 and 2016 delivering an 
additional 656 extra care flats and a further 18 schemes proposed between 2016 and 2020 
at a feasibility stage with the potential to deliver a further 1,238 extra care flats. This 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 5



 
Board have an aspiration to deliver a considerable number of additional extra care housing 
places to meet the needs of Oxfordshire residents and to help to shift the focus of care 
from nursing homes to the assisted living approach. 

 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 5



GROWTH BOARD SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PERFORMANCE 2018/19 

 

1. At its last meeting Scrutiny asked for information on affordable housing delivery in 2017/18 and an 
estimated performance for 2018/19. 
 

2. Councils set annual targets for affordable housing delivery. These are numeric totals that will include 
both the proportion of affordable housing on housing sites secured through planning policy and sites 
developed exclusively for affordable housing by either Registered Providers or Local Housing 
Delivery companies. 

 
3. Scrutiny also asked for information on the delivery rates for affordable housing. Tracking the delivery 

of affordable housing as a percentage of total housing delivered could be a way of illustrating the 
success of planning policy in securing affordable housing. However, any analysis would need to 
recognise that there are many site-specific variables that can cause a variance from the policy 
percentage expected. For this reason this note restricts itself to a numeric assessment of affordable 
housing delivery. 

 
4. The targets for affordable housing delivery  provided by the partners, are as follows. 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 
Cherwell 150 400 
Oxford 74 135 
South 182 250 
Vale 228 300 
WODC 133 146 
Total 767 1231 

 
5. Affordable housing delivery against these targets is as follows 

2017/18 Total (completions) Social rented Aff. Rented SO/LCHO 
Cherwell 443 - 298 145 
Oxford 45 27 0 18 
South 238 - 161 77 
Vale 332 - 211 121 
WODC 153 - 107 46 
Total 1211 27 777 407 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



2018/19 Estimated 
Delivery total 
(completions) 

Social rented Aff. Rented SO/LCHO Estimated 
year-end total 

Cherwell 4521 - 290 162 560 
Oxford 872 69 13 5 102 
South 2712 - 182 89 301 
Vale 3362 - 219 117 371 
WODC 713 - 46 25 * 
Total 1217 69 750 398  

1 Figure as at end of February 2019 

2Figures at end of January 2019 

3 Only 3rd quarter total 

6. Scrutiny are asked to note the figures provided 

 

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 

 
Growth Board response to recommendations of the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel  
Recommendations made on 24 January 2019  
Draft response provided by Paul Staines  
 
The growth Board is requested to provide a draft response to the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel, to be published as a 
supplement collectively with the Scrutiny Panel’s report, for decision at its meeting on 29 January 2019.  
 

Recommendation Agree?  Comment 

Recommendation 1: That the Growth Board reflect 
on the categorisation of consultees and take further 
steps to create a separate list of key consultees in 
addition to the statutory list of consultees within the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) consultation process. 
CPRE to be added to this list of key consultees 
 

 
 
 
Agreed in 
part 

 
 
The Growth Board both accepts the need to have a wider 
consultation list and advised that this was already in place, 
including for the Campaign to Protect Rural England and other 
stakeholders.   
 

Recommendation 2: That the Growth Board redrafts 
the Regulation 18 consultation document to be more 
consistent with international, national and local 
policies and targets concerning climate change and 
other likely future trends. This should include: 

a) alignment with the Government’s 
definition of ‘growth’ as contained with the 
Clean Growth Strategy 2018. 

b) a greater recognition of the importance of 
climate change and its relationship with 
the forward planning of our housing, 
transport, health, wellbeing and economic 
infrastructure. 

c) a greater recognition of the ‘mega-trends’ 
that are expected to affect the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agreed in 
part 

 
 
 
 

 
 
The Scrutiny Panel’s comments could not be accommodated in 
the Regulation 18 draft being considered by each council as this 
consideration was taking place the week of Growth Board and 
the reports could not be changed having been published. The 
Growth Board would however consider the Panel’s comments as 
a consultation response.   

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 7



Appendix 1 
 

demographic, climatic and technological 
environment. 

d) a ‘SMART’ target for greenhouse gas 
reductions against which all the 
aspirations and objectives are judged. 

 

Recommendation 3: That the Growth Board ask 
each Leader to establish a clear structure for 
communications between the Growth Board and 
each council’s members 

 
 
Yes  

 
 

The response of the Growth Board is that that each council 
leader had confirmed that they had already established clear 
communication with their other council members and would 
continue with this. 
 

 

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 7



1 

 
 

 
 
Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Work Plan  

 
The Growth Board Scrutiny Panel agrees its own Work Plan, which is reviewed at each meeting. The Panel is encouraged to be strict in 
prioritising key issues for review, in addition to the entirety of the Growth Board’s forthcoming agendas, which will feature as a standard item 
on the Work Plan. The Panel’s ongoing review of their work plan should be considered in conjunction with the Growth Board’s Forward Plan. 
 

Meeting date Item Description and rationale Contact 
 
 
 
30 May 2019 

The Local 
Industrial 
Strategy  
 

 
Consideration of a report concerning the Local Industrial Strategy. 

Ahmed 
Goga 
(OxLEP) 

 
Oxfordshire 
Energy Strategy 
Delivery Plan 

 
 
To consider the delivery Plan developed from the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy 

 
Ahmed 
Goga 
(OxLEP) 
 

Growth Board 
Agenda  

 

To consider the Growth Board’s agenda, and any items for discussion. This will include 
Quarter 3 monitoring data that was previously requested by the Panel. 

N/a  

Growth Board 
Sub Groups 

To consider the work of the Growth Board sub groups N/a 

 
Items to be scheduled 

Item Description and rationale Lead 
Officer 

Strengthening social 
value and 
Environmental 
Capital 

To consider to what extent the Growth Board is taking account of, measuring and then extracting social value in 
the growth agenda. Also, to consider the strategic approach to maximising the utility of environmental capital. 

 
TBC 

 

P
age 53


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	4 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 - update on project plan and Green Belt
	March meeting Green Belt

	5 Scrutiny Panel response to Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (JSSP) consultation
	6 Affordable Housing Sub-Group - update on affordable housing performance 2018/2019
	7 Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations - January 2019 meeting
	9 Work Programme for the Scrutiny Panel - March 2019

